
Heidi Prouse 
Administrative Services | Administrative Services Supervisor 
Office of Doug Chorvat Jr., Clerk of Circuit Court and Comptroller
Phone: (352) 540-6437 | Email: hprouse@hernandoclerk.org
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NOTICE:
Please note: Florida has a very broad Public Records Law. Most written communications to or from the Clerk's Office

CAUTION: This email originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

From: County Ordinances
To: Heidi Prouse; County Ordinances
Subject: RE: Hernando County Ordinance No. 2025-09 - Adopted on August 12, 2025
Date: Wednesday, October 8, 2025 12:50:40 PM
Attachments: Hernando20251008_Ordinance2025_09_Ack (CORRECTED).pdf

Good afternoon,
 
Attached is the acknowledgement letter for Hernando County Corrected Ordinance 2025-09.
 
Thank you,
 
David Parrish
Government Operations Consultant II
Office of the General Counsel
Department of State
Room 701 – The Capitol – Tallahassee, FL
P: (850) 245-6270
 
 
 
From: Heidi Prouse <hprouse@hernandoclerk.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, October 8, 2025 12:01 PM
To: County Ordinances <CountyOrdinances@dos.fl.gov>
Subject: RE: Hernando County Ordinance No. 2025-09 - Adopted on August 12, 2025
 

EMAIL RECEIVED FROM EXTERNAL SOURCE

The attachments/links in this message have been scanned by Proofpoint.

Good Afternoon,
 
It has been brought to our attention that the full scan of the Ordinance No. 2025-09 was not submitted.
Please replace your file with the attached 30-page document.
 
Thank you,
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October 8, 2025 


 


 


 


Doug Chorvat, Jr. 


County Clerk 


Hernando County  


20 North Main Street, Rm. 362 


Brooksville, Florida 34601 


 


 


 


 


Dear Doug Chorvat Jr., 


 


Pursuant to the provisions of Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, this will acknowledge receipt of your 


electronic copy of Hernando County Corrected Ordinance No. 2025-09, which was filed in this office on 


October 8, 2025. 


 


 


 


 


 


Sincerely, 


 


 


 


Alexandra Leijon 


Administrative Code and Register Director 


 


 


 


 


 


AL/dp 


 


 


 







are public records available to anyone upon request. Your e-mail, including your e-mail address, may therefore, be
subject to public disclosure.

Heidi Prouse 
Administrative Services | Administrative Services Supervisor 
Office of Doug Chorvat Jr., Clerk of Circuit Court and Comptroller
Phone: (352) 540-6437 | Email: hprouse@hernandoclerk.org
20 N Main Street, Brooksville, FL 34601
Visit our Website | Facebook | Twitter | How are we doing? | Property Fraud Alert

CAUTION: This email originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

 
 
From: County Ordinances <CountyOrdinances@dos.fl.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 2:02 PM
To: Ordinances <ord@hernandoclerk.org>; County Ordinances <CountyOrdinances@dos.fl.gov>
Cc: Heidi Prouse <hprouse@hernandoclerk.org>; Paige Jefferys <pjefferys@hernandoclerk.org>; Nienke Osinga
<nosinga@hernandoclerk.org>
Subject: RE: Hernando County Ordinance No. 2025-09 - Adopted on August 12, 2025
 

 
Good afternoon,
 
Attached is the acknowledgement letter for Hernando County Ordinance 2025-09.
 
Thank you,
 
 
From: Ordinances <ord@hernandoclerk.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 9:11 AM
To: County Ordinances <CountyOrdinances@dos.fl.gov>
Cc: Heidi Prouse <hprouse@hernandoclerk.org>; Paige Jefferys <pjefferys@hernandoclerk.org>; Nienke Osinga
<nosinga@hernandoclerk.org>
Subject: Hernando County Ordinance No. 2025-09 - Adopted on August 12, 2025
 

EMAIL RECEIVED FROM EXTERNAL SOURCE

The attachments/links in this message have been scanned by Proofpoint.

 
Sender Full Name: Heidi Prouse

Sender Phone number: 352-754-4970
County Name: Hernando

Ordinance Number: 2025-09
 
 
Thank You,
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RON DESANTIS 

Governor 

 

CORD BYRD 

Secretary of State 

 

 

 R. A. Gray Building  •  500 South Bronough Street   •  Tallahassee, Florida  32399-0250 

Telephone: (850) 245-6270 

 

 

 

 

 

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
To: Ordinances; County Ordinances
Cc: Heidi Prouse; Paige Jefferys; Nienke Osinga
Subject: RE: Hernando County Ordinance No. 2025-09 - Adopted on August 12, 2025
Date: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 2:02:20 PM
Attachments: Hernando20250813_Ordinance2025_09_Ack.pdf

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


 


 


 


 


 


August 13, 2025 


 


 


 


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


electronic copy of Hernando County Ordinance No. 2025-09, which was filed in this office on August 13, 


2025. 


 


 


 


 


 


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
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DRAFT DOCUMENT: F:\l COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE\MAT\HCFR\23-691-11\ORDINANCE­
COPCN.wpd, June 12, 2025 (10:32am) NOTE: additions/dclctio.n = language proposed for addition/deletion 
to existing Code provisions. 

ORDINANCE NO.: 2025-_()q 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 15, ARTICLE ill (EMERGENCY 

AND NON-EMERGENCY MEDICAL TRANSPORTATION), SECTIONS 15-81 

THROUGH 15-95, HERNANDO COUNTY ORDINANCES, ESTABLISHING 

THE HERNANDO COUNTY AMBULANCE CERTIFICATE OF PUBLIC 

CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY ORDINANCE; REPEALING CHAPTER 21 

(HEAL TH AND SANITATION) AR TI CLE X (AMBULANCE 

8 TRANSPORTATION SERVICES); RESERVING SECTIONS 21-163-21-186 OF 

9 THE CODE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION 

IO IN THE CODE; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 

11 PROVISIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

12 WHEREAS, the Raymond H. Alexander, M.D., Emergency Medical Transportation Act 

13 (Chapter 40 l , Part ill, Florida Statutes) ("the Act") places responsibility for the improvement and 

14 regulation of basic and advanced life support systems in the State of Florida with the Florida 

15 Department of Health ("the Department"), except for the issuance of COPCNs which the Act 

16 declares is the responsibility of the various counties; and 

17 WHEREAS, the Act requires applicants to the Department for licensure as a basic life 

18 support or an advanced life support service to obtain a COPCN from each county in which the 

19 applicant will operate; and 



DRAFT DOCUMENT: F:\1 COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE\MAT\HCFR\23-691-11 \ORDINANCE -
COPCN.wpd, June 12, 2025 (10:32am) NOTE: additions/deletiom = language proposed for addition/deletion 
to existing Code provisions. 

1 WHEREAS, it is in Hernando County's best interests to regulate the application process for, 

2 and issuance of, COPCNs according to the needs of Hernando County citizens pursuant to § 

3 401 .25(2)( d) , Florida Statutes, to comport with the Act; and 

4 WHEREAS, consistency dictates that the best location for the Hernando County Ambulance 

5 Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity Ordinance is Chapter 15, Article III, which is titled 

6 Emergency and Non-Emergency Medical Transportation; and 

7 WHEREAS, notice of the public hearing on the matter of amending this ordinance was 

8 properly and timely published; and 

9 WHEREAS, the County has considered the record of the public hearing. 

IO NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

11 COMMISSIONERS OF HERNANDO COUNTY: 

12 Section 1. Chapter 15 (Health and Sanitation), Article III (Emergency and Non-Medical 

13 Emergency Medical Transportation), Sections 15-81 through 15-95, which are currently reserved, 

14 are amended to read as follows with the underlined matter added and struck-through matter deleted: 

15 Sec. 15-81. Short title. 

16 This article may be cited as the "Hernando County Ambulance Certificate of 

17 Public Convenience and Necessity Ordinance." 

18 Sec. 15-82. Primary EMS Provider and First Responder for Emergency 

19 Medical Services. 
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DRAFT DOCUMENT: F: \l COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE\MAT\HCFR\23-691-11 \ORDINANCE­
COPCN.wpd, June 12, 2025 (10:32am) NOTE: additions/deletions = language proposed for addition/deletion 
to existing Code provisions. 

Hernando County Fire and Emergency Services (also known as Hernando 

County Fire Rescue) is the primary emergency medical services provider and the first 

responder for emergency medical services in Hernando County. 

Sec. 15-83. Definitions. 

The following definitions shall apply to this article: 

Advanced life support means assessment or treatment by a person qualified 

by the department through the use of techniques such as endotracheal intubation, the 

administration of drugs or intravenous fluids, telemetry, cardiac monitoring, cardiac 

defibrillation, and other techniques described in the EMT-Paramedic National 

Standard Curriculum or the National EMS Education Standards, pursuant to the rules 

of the department. 

Advanced life support service means any emergency medical transport or 

non-transport service which uses advanced life support techniques as defined in this 

article and Chapter 40 l, Florida Statutes. 

Ambulance or emergencv medical services vehicle means any privately or 

publicly owned land or water vehicle that is designed, constructed, reconstructed, 

maintained, equipped, or operated for, and is used for, or intended to be used for, 

land or water transportation of sick or injured persons requiring or likely to require 

medical attention during transport. 
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DRAFT DOCUMENT: F:\l COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE\MAT\HCFR\23-691-ll \ORDJNANCE­
COPCN.wpd, June 12, 2025 (10:32am) NOTE: additions/deletions= language proposed for addition/deletion 
to existing Code provisions. 

Applicant means a person or entity who makes application for a COPCN as 

hereinafter described . 

Basic life support means the assessment or treatment by a person qualified by 

the department through the use of techniques described in the EMT-Basic National 

Standard Curriculum or the National EMS Education Standards of the United States 

Department of Transportation and approved by the department. The term includes the 

administration of oxygen and other techniques that have been approved and are 

performed under conditions specified by rules of the department. 

Board means the Board of County Commissioners of Hernando County, 

Florida. 

COPCN means a certificate ofpublic convenience and necessity as issued by 

the board. 

County means all incorporated and unincorporated areas within the territorial 

limits of Hernando County, Florida. 

Department means the Florida Department of Health. 

EMS means emergency medical services. 

Operator means any person owning or acting as agent for the owner of any 

business or service which furnishes, operates, conducts, maintains, advertises, 
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DRAFT DOCUMENT: F:\I COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE\MAT\HCFR\23-691-11 \ORDINANCE­
COPCN.wpd, June 12, 2025 (10:32am) NOTE: additions/deletions ~ language proposed for addition/deletion 
to existing Code provisions. 

engages in, proposes to engage in, or professes to engage in a business or service 

which offers advanced life support or basic life support service in Hernando County. 

Permit means any authorization issued by the department for a vehicle to be 

operated as basic life support or advanced life support transport vehicle or an 

advanced life support non-transport vehicle providing basic or advanced life support 

services. 

Person means and includes any individual, firm, corporation, association, 

partnership, or governmental entity. 

State means the State of Florida. 

Sec. 15-84. COPCN required. 

All providers of the services described in this Article must comply 

with this Article's requirements to provide said services. Every person or operator 

owning or acting as agent for the owner of any business or service which furnishes, 

operates, conducts, maintains, advertises, engages in, proposes to engage in, or 

professes to engage in an advanced life support transport service, basic life support 

transport service, or any other licensed EMS provider pursuant to chapter 401, 

Florida Statutes, or chapter 64J -1 of the Florida Administrative Code, as amended 

from time to time, within Hernando County shall first obtain a COPCN as an 

advanced life support service, basic life support service or other licensed EMS 
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DRAFT DOCUMENT: F:\1 COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE\MAT\HCFR\23-691-11 \ORDINANCE­
COPCN.wpd, June 12, 2025 (10:32am) NOTE: additions/deletions ~ language proposed for addition/deletion 
to existing Code provisions. 

provider, as applicable, prior to offering such services to the public. The application 

for a COPCN shall be in a form provided by the board and shall be in writing, signed 

and sworn to by the applicant, and shall be filed with the Hernando County 

Attorney's Office. 

ili2 The application shall provide proof that the applicant has met all 

appropriate requirements and obtained all appropriate certificates, licenses and 

permits from the state as provided for by chapter 401, Florida Statutes, chapter 64J- l 

of the Florida Administrative Code and all other applicable state or federal laws. 

The COPCN required hereunder shall be in addition to all certificates, 

licenses and permits required by chapter 401, Florida Statutes. 

A fee (which has been set by resolution) wi ll accompany each 

application to offset administrative costs incurred in processing the app lication. 

Sec. 15-85. Application for COPCN. 

Every application for a COPCN under this article shall contain the following: 

The name and business address of the owner or operator of the 

advanced life support or basic life support service, or proposed service; 

ili2 The name under which the applicant will operate; 

ill A list of the names and addresses of all officers, directors, members 
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to existing Code provisions. 

and shareholders of applicant; 

The territory the applicant desires to serve; numberofvehicles; a brief 

description of the kind or type, passenger capacity, arrangement, size, and gross 

weight of each vehicle; 

The location and description of each place from which applicant's 

service is intended to operate; 

ill The training and experience of the applicant in the transportation and 

care of patients; 

A description of each vehicle to be used in the applicant's business or 

service, including the make, model, year of manufacture, mileage and vehicle 

identification number (YIN); state or federal aviation or marine agency registration 

number, where applicable; and the color scheme, insignia, name, monogram, or other 

distinguishing characteristics to be used to designate the applicant's vehicle or 

vehicles; 

ill The names and addresses of at least three (3) residents of the county 

available as references; 

ill A written agreement of the applicant to file, in event that the 

application is granted and prior to its effectiveness, copies of public liability, property 

damage and malpractice insurance or a surety bond conditioned for the payment and 
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satisfaction of any final judgment as required or provided for in this article and 

chapter 401, Florida Statutes; 

ill A written statement certifying that the applicant will provide 

continuous service on a 24-hour-day, seven-day-week basis, and that the minimum 

level of patient care rendered and will always be advanced life support, basic life 

support or other EMS service, as applicable, with the exception of disasters or 

extraordinary circumstances (advanced life support applicants only); 

{k2 Such other information as the board deems necessary to determine 

compliance with this article. 

Sec. 15-86. Suitable vehicle. 

The applicant shall provide with its application for a COPCN evidence that 

its vehicle(s) comply with § 401.26(2)(a) through (f), Florida Statutes. Failure to 

provide such evidence may result in denial of the application. 

Sec. 15-87. Investigation of applicant's insurance. 

Upon receipt of an application for a COPCN under this article, the board may 

cause an investigation to be made of the character and reputation of the applicant as 

a law abiding citizen; the financial ability of the applicant to render safe and 

comfortable service and to maintain or replace equipment for such service; the 

financial responsibility of the applicant to maintain insurance for the payment of 
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personal injury, death and property damage claims and of such other pertinent facts 

which the board deems relevant in detem1ining the fitness of the applicant to assume 

the occupation of an operator. All insurance policy coverage must be in an amount 

acceptable to the county's current insurance carrier and must name Hernando County 

as an additional insured. All such insurance policies shall provide for a thirty-day 

cancellation notice to be sent to the board. 

Sec. 15-88. Hearings on applications; issuance or denial. 

The board will schedule a public hearing regarding the initial issuance of any 

COPCN. The board shall give an applicant and all COPCN holders notice of any 

public hearing affecting COPCNs prior to the date of the public hearing. At the time 

and place specified in the notice, the board shall accord all persons attending an 

opportunity to be heard . The board may, in its sole discretion, issue or refuse to issue 

a COPCN as applied for or may modify the terms and conditions of a COPCN 

applied for as the public convenience and necessity may require. After reviewing an 

application for a COPCN and after receiving public input at a public hearing and 

after reviewing financial, technical and character qualifications of the applicant the 

board may issue a COPCN. 

Factors that the board may consider in the issuance of a COPCN include the 

following: 
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ill Whether existing emergency medical transportation services are 

adequate to meet reasonable public needs. 

{hl The present necessity for the COPCN in relation to the volume of 

existing or projected future emergency calls within the area to be served. 

The financial ability of the applicant to furnish continuous and 

uninterrupted service at the times required therefor and to meet the financial 

obligations of the service which the operator proposes to perform. 

The effect on existing medical transportation facilities and services 

of all kinds, and particularly whether the granting of such COPCN wi ll or may 

seriously impair essential public service provided by existing service operators. 

ill The qualifications of the appl icant to properly perform the proposed 

service and to confom1 to provisions of this article. 

ill Any objections received from operators provided notice of the 

application. 

Any of the matters set out in section 15-85. 

Sec. 15-89. Form and content of COCPNs. 

ill Every COPCN issued under this article shall state the service territory 

authorized and such conditions and limitations the board deems necessary for 
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protecting the public interest. 

D22 The COPCN and any and all renewals thereof shall be valid for a 

period of two (2) years from the date of issuance unless earlier suspended, revoked 

or terminated. 

{£2 The application for renewal must be submitted to the county attorney's 

office no later than ninety (90) days before expiration and the board shall review all 

COPCNs within sixty (60) days of their expiration and, without the necessity of a 

public hearing, may issue renewals when such renewal supports public convenience 

and necessity. 

Should the board determine not to renew a COPCN, it shall notify the 

holder in writing within thirty (30) days of the expiration of the COPCN of its 

intended action and the reasons for non-renewal. 

Sec. 15-90. Grounds for revocation, alteration or suspension. 

EveryCOPCN issued underthis article shall be subject to revocation, 

alteration or suspension by the board when it appears that: 

ill The operator has failed or neglected to render all services 

authorized by his/her COPCN for a period of three (3) consecutive days 

during any calendar year without reasonable cause; 
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ill The operator has been convicted of a felony or any criminal 

offense involving moral turpitude; 

ill The COPCN was obtained through an application in which 

any material fact was omitted or falsely stated; 

ill The operator has permitted any vehicle to be operated in 

violation of the laws of Florida or this article, which violation results in a 

conviction of the driver or operator of the vehicle of a misdemeanor in the 

second degree or greater; 

ill The operator has permitted any person or employee to provide 

service under his COPCN without that person possessing the appropriate 

license, certificate or pem1it as required by this article and chapter 401, 

Florida Statutes; 

The operator has failed to comply with any of the provisions 

of this article, chapter 40 l, Florida Statutes, or chapter 64J-l of the Florida 

Administrative Code, as amended from time to time; 

ill The operator, his agents or employees have been found guilty 

of malpractice or negligence in the operation of the service; 

The operator knowingly allows his agents or employees to 

violate the provisions of this article, chapter 40 l, Florida Statutes or chapter 
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64J-l of the Florida Administrative Code, as amended from time to time or 

any other applicable state or federal law. 

Any other good cause, or as provided for otherwise in this 

article. 

Du Proceedings for investigation and recommending of revocation, 

alteration or suspension of a COPCN, and any hearing to be held based upon this 

investigation, shall be undertaken by the board. All complaints shall be investigated 

within forty-five (45) days and a report thereon made to the board, together with 

findings and recommendations. If revocation, alteration or suspension of any COPCN 

appears warranted, the board shall give fifteen (15) days' notice to the operator 

holding the COPCN that the same will be considered at a specific board meeting, 

provided the date of such meeting shall not be less than five (5) days from the date 

of the notice. The board shall thereupon undertake to consider the complaint and 

either revoke, alter or suspend the COPCN or dismiss the complaint. 

Sec. 15-91. Transfer or assignment. 

No COPCN issued under this article shall be assigned or transferred by the 

person to whom it is issued except upon approval of the board. Such approval shall 

be granted in the same manner and subject to the same application requirements and 

procedures as original applications for COPCNs. Any majority transfer of shares of 
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sto1..:k or interest of any person or operator so as to cause a change in the directors, 

Jfficers, majority stockholders or managers of such person or operator shall be 

deemed a transfer or assignment as contemplated by this article and subject to the 

same rules and regulations as any other transfer or assignment. Further, and in 

addition to this definition of an event constituting a transfer, any action as stated 

under chapter 401, Florida Statutes, which defines an assignment and/or transfer shall 

be deemed by the board to be a transfer or assignment. 

Sec. 15-92. Daily record. 

Every operator shall maintain a daily record in which shall be recorded the 

place of origin, time of call, time of dispatch, time of arrival at scene, time left for 

destination, and charges for each trip made, along with such operating and patient 

information required by the board . Pursuant to § 401 .30, Fla. Stat., the names of 

patients and other patient-identifying information is confidential and exempt from the 

provisions of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, and may not be disclosed without the 

consent of the patient except as provided in § 401.30(4), Florida Statutes. Every 

operator shall retain and preserve all daily logs for at least five (5) years and such 

logs shall be available for inspection by the board upon request, subject to the 

confidentiality and exemption provisions of Chapters 119 and 40 J, Florida Statutes. 

Falsification of a record shall be grounds for revocation, alteration or suspension of 
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the operator's COPCN . 

Sec. 15-93. Maintenance of records. 

Each operator shall keep accurate records of receipts for service rendered, 

operating and other expenses, capital expenditures and such other operating and 

patient information required by the board or under the provisions of chapter 401, 

Florida Statutes, and chapter 64J-l of the Florida Administrative Code. Pursuant to 

§ 401.30, Florida Statutes, the names of patients and other patient-identifying 

information is confidential and exempt from the provisions of Chapter 119, Florida 

Statutes, and may not be disclosed without the consent of the patient except as 

provided in§ 401.30(4), Florida Statutes. 

Sec. 15-94. Administration and enforcement of ordinance. 

Responsibility for the administration and enforcement of the provisions of 

this article is vested in the county administrator. The operator's failure to comply with 

this article will result in a report by the county administrator to the board for further 

action, which may include suspension or revocation of the operator's COPCN. 

Sec. 15-95. Violations and penalties. 

Any person, firm or corporation failing to comply with any provision of this 

article shall be prosecuted as described in chapter 2, article ill, as amended from time 

to time. 
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1 Secs. 15-8½96 -15-120. - Reserved. 

2 Section 2. Chapter 21 (Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions) Article X (Ambulance 

3 Transportation Services) is amended to read as follows with underlined matter added and struck-

4 through matter deleted: 

5 ARTICLE X. AMBULANCE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 

6 See. 21 163. Short title. 

7 This a1ticle ina:y be cited as the "Coont:y Arnbolancc Cc1tificatc of Poblic 

8 Co11vcnicncc a:ud Necessity O1dinancc. 11 

9 See. 21 164. Definitions. 

10 The followiug definitions shall appl:y to this a1ticle. 

11 Arhaneed life 8Uf)fJert means treatment of life threatening medical 

12 emc1gencics tlnoogh the osc of tedmiqoes such as endotlacheal intobation, the 

13 adrninist1 ation ofd1 ogs, inttavcnoos floids, telemetty, ca1diac monito1ing and catdiac 

14 defibtillation b:y a qoalified pc1so11, pmsoant to mle of the depattment. 

15 Adwmeed life 8'tt]3pert Berviee means any emergency medical transport or 

16 nonttansp01t set vice which oses advanced life suppo, t tcchniqocs as defined in this 

17 a1ticlc and chaptei 401, Flotida Statotcs. 

18 Amhf;ffrmee er emet-gency medical 8et'"e·iee8 vehicle means any privately or 
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poblicly owned land, ait 01 wate1 vehicle that is designed, eonstt oeted, 1eeonstrneted, 

maintained, equipped or ope1ated fot, and is used fot, 01 i11tended to be osed fot, ai1, 

land 01 wate1 ttansp01tation ofsiek 01 i11jmed persons who ate in need ofeme1geucy 

medical attention dming ttanspott. 

Applictmt means every person who may make application for a certificate of 

pt1blie convenience and necessity as herei11afte1 described. 

Basic l(fc support means treatment of life threatening medical emergencies 

by a qt1alified pet son th1 ot1gh the use of techniques soeh as patient assessment, basic 

cat diopolmonar y 1 est1seitation, splinting, obstett ieal assistance, bandaging, 

ad111i11ist1atio11 of oxygen, application of medical antishoek ttousers and other 

teel111iqt1es that an EMT is auth01 ized to do pm st1a11t to chapter 401 , Florida Statutes. 

Doa1 d means the Doa1 d of Coonty Conimissione1 s of llemando Coonty, Florida. 

Certificate means a certificate of public convenience and necessity• as issued 

by the board. 

Certification means any· authorization issued pursuant to the provisions of this 

article 01 ehapte1 401 , Florida Statutes, to a pe1so11 to act in a capacity 1egt1lated by 

this article or chapter 401, Flot ida Statt1tes. 

County means all incorporated and unincorporated areas within the territorial 

limits of Hernando Coonty, Florida. 
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Dcpartme1~t means the Department of Health and Rehabilitative SePviees. 

EMS meaM eme1geney medical se1 vices. 

Operntor means any person owning or acting as agent for the owner of any 

bosiness 01 se1 vice \1\ihieh furnishes, ope1ates, eondoets, maintains, adve1tises, 

engages in, p1oposes to engage i11, 01 p1ofesses to engage in a bosiuess 01 se1 vice 

\1\ihieh offe1s advanced life st1ppo1t 01 basic life st1ppo1t se1 vice. 

Permit means any authorization issued pursuant to the provisions of chapter 

401 , F101 ida Sta:totes, f()l a: v chicle to be ope1 ated as a tJ a:nsp01 t 01 a nontr a:nspo1 t 

vehicle p1oviding advance life st1ppo1t se1 vices. 

Person means and iHcludcs any individual , firm, corporatioH, association, 

pa1tnership or gove1mnental entity . 

State means the State of Florida. 

See. 21 165. Certificate required. 

(a) Eve1y pe1so1101 ope1ato1 0\1\ini11g 01 acting as agent fo1 the owne1 of 

a11y business 01 se1 vice which furnishes , opeiates, condocts, maintains, adve1tises, 

engages in, p10poses to engage in , 01 p10fesses to engage in an advanced life st1ppo1 t 

t1ansp01t se1 vice, basic life st1ppo1t tianspo1t se1 \lice, 01 any other licensed EMS 

pro videt pm suant to chapte1 40 I, Florida Statotes, a11dfo1 chapter 64J- l of the F101 ida 
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Administtati ve Code, as amended ftoni time to time, within Ilerna11do Cotmty shall 

fitst obtain a ee1tifieate of public eo11venienee and necessity as an advance life 

snppo1 t set vice pt iot to offering such se1 vices to the public. The application ofsuch 

ee1 tificate shall be i11 a fo11 n pt o v ided by ti re boat d and shall be in w I iting, signed and 

sworn to by the applicant, and shall be filed with the boa1d. 

(b) The application shall p1 o v ide p1 oof that the applicant has met all 

app1 op, iate I eqni1 ernents and obtained a ll app1 op, iate ce1 tifieates, licenses and 

pe1 mits fiom the state as p1ovided for by chapter 401 , Florida Statutes, ehapte, 64J-l 

of the Florida Administrative Code and all othe1 appl icable state OJ federa l laws. 

(e) The cc, tifieates I eqnir ed hereunder shall be i11 addition to all 

ce1 tificates, licenses and pem1its I eqni1 ed by chapter 401 , Florida Statutes. 

(d) A fee to be set by fee resolntion will accompany each application to 

offset administrative costs incuned in p1ocessing the application. 

See. 21 166. Applieation for eertifieate. 

Eve1y application fot a ce1tificate unde, this a1ticle shall contain the 

fo llowing. 

(I) The name and business add1ess of the ow ner OJ operato1 of the 

advanced life suppo, t 01 basic life snppo1 t set vice, 01 proposed set vice, 
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(2) The name tindet which the applicant will opetate, 

(3) A list of the names and addresses of all officos, ditectots and 

shai eh older s of appl ica, 1t, 

(4) The te11 ito1y which the applicant desites to se1 vc, nt1mbe1 of vehicles , 

a brief desc1iption of the kind 01 type, passenget capacity , anangement, size and 

g1oss weight of each vehicle, 

(5) The location and desc1iption of each place ftom which applicant's 

set v iee is intended to opet ate , 

(6) The training a11d expe1 ience of the applicant in the transpo1tatio11 and 

cat e of patients, 

(7) A desc1iption of each vehicle to be osed in the applicant's bosiness 01 

se1 vice, i11clt1ding the make, model, yeat of manofactme, mileage and vehicle 

identification 1rnmbe1 (VIN), state 01 fedetal aviation 01 matine agency 1egistiation 

numbet , whet e applicable, and the col01 scheme, insignia, name, monog1 am, 01 othet 

distingoisbing cha1actet istics to be used to designate the applicant's vehicle 01 

vehicles , 

(8) The names and addresses of at least th-tee (3) residents of the cotinty 

available as 1eferences, 
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(9) An ag, cement of the applicants to file , in event that the application 

shall be g1anted and p1io1 to its effectiveness, copies of public liability , p1ope1ty 

damage and malpiactice insm ance 01 a sm ety bond conditioned fo1 the payment and 

satisfaction of any final judgment as 1eqoi1ed 01 p1ovided fo1 in this a1tiele and 

chapte1 401 , Fl01 ida Statotcs, 

(10) A statement ee1tifying that the applicant will p1ovidc eontinooos 

sci vice mt a 24-hom-day, seven-day-week basis, and the minilllum level of patient 

ca1e 1cnde1ed and/01 available will always be advanced life soppo1t, with the 

exceptions of disasters 01 extJao1dina1y ci1cmnstances, (advanced life soppo1t 

applicants 011ly), 

(11) Soch othc1 information as the boatd shall deem teasonable and 

necessary to a fair determination of compliance with this a1ticle. 

See. 21 167. lw,restigatien ef applieant's insuranee. 

Upon 1cccipt ofan application fo1 any cc1 tificate ondct this a1ticle, the boa1d 

may cause an investigation to be made of the chai acte1 and I eputation of the app licant 

as a law abiding citizen, the financial ability of the applicant to 1rnde1 safe and 

comfo1 table sci vice and to maintain 01 replace eqoipment fo1 soch sci vice, the 

financial 1esponsibility of the applicant to maintain insutanec fot the payment of 

pc1sonal i11jmy, death and piope1ty damage claims and of soch othe, pe1tinent facts 
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119hich the boa1d may deem 1clevaut i11 dctcrn1ini11g the fitness of the applica11t to 

assume the occupation of an opc1ato1. The amount of all insmancc policy covctagc 

must be in an amou11t acceptable to the county's ctm cut insm ancc can ict and must 

nan,c Hcmaudo Cotinty as an additional insu1cd. All such iust11ancc policies shall 

p1ovidc f01 a thirty-day cancellation notice to be sent to the board. 

See. 21 168. Hearings an applieatians; issuanee ar refusal. 

The board 119ill schcdtilc a ptiblic hca,ing 1cga1ding the initial issuance of any 

certificate. The boa1d shall give an applicant and all cc1tificatc holdc1s notice of any 

ptiblic hca1 ing affecting certificates pt io1 to the date of the ptiblic hearing. At the time 

and place specified in the notice, the board shall acco1d all pc1sons attending an 

oppo1tt111ity to be hca1d. The boa1d may isstic 01 1cfusc to issue a certificate as 

applied fo1 01 111ay modify the tcn11s and conditions ofa cc1tificatc applied fot as the 

public comcnicncc and necessity may 1cqui1c in the disc1ction of the boa1d. Aftc1 

1 ccci v ing an application fo1 a cc1 tificatc and aftc1 1 ccci v ing public inptit at a public 

hca1ing a11d after 1evic119ing financial, technical and cha1actc1 qtialifications of the 

applicant the boai d may issue a cc, tificatc. 

[Factors 119hicl, the board may use in its issuance of a cc1tificatc include the 

follo119ing.] 

(l) \Vhethct existing emc1grncy medical ttansp01tatio11 sci vices aie 
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adequate to meet I easo11able public needs. 

(2) The p1 esent necessity fot the certificate in I elation to the volmne of 

existing 01 prnjeeted futme eme1gency calls within the a1ea to be se1 ved . 

(3) The financia l ability of the applicant to furnish continuotts and 

m1i11te1rnpted se1 vice at the times 1eqt1i1ed the1efo1 a11d to ineet the financial 

obligations of the set vice which the operat01 ptoposes to petfotm. 

(4) The effect 011 existing medical transpottation facilities and set vices 

of all kinds, and pa1ticulatly whethe1 the gt anting of st1cl1 ce1tificate will 01 may 

se1iously impai r essential public se1 vice as ptovided by existiug service ope1at01s . 

(5) The qttalifications of the applicant to pt opetly pet fot m the pt oposed 

set vice and to confo1111 to prnvisiom of this atticle. 

(6) Any objections teceived ftom ope1ato1s prnvided notice of the 

application as set ottt bet ein. 

(7) Any of the matteis set out in section 21-167. 

See. 21 169. Form and eontents. 

(a) Ev e1 y ce1 tificate isstted ttnder this a1 tide shall state the ser v 1cc 

te11it01y at1th01ized and sttch conditions a11d limitation as the boa1d may deem 

necessa1 y for p10tecti11g the pttblic inter est. 
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(b) The ce1tificate and any and all tenewals the1eof shall be valid for a 

period of two (2) yems fiom the date the1eof tmless ea1lie1 suspended, 1evoked 01 

te1 n1inated. 

(e) The application fo1 renewal mttst be submitted to the cottnty attorney's 

office no late1 than ninety (90) days befo1e expi1ation and the bomd shall review all 

ce1tificates within sixty (60) days ofthei1 expitation and, without the necessity of a 

public hea1 ing, lilay isstte 1e11ewals when such renewal is i11 the pt1blic convenience 

and necessity. 

(d) Shot1ld the boa1d detern1i11e not to 1enew a ce1tificate, it shall notify 

the holde1 in w1 iti11g at least within thi1ty (30) days of the expi1ation of the ce1tificate 

of its intended action and the 1easons fo1 that action. 

See. 21 170. Transfer ef assignment. 

No ce1tificate issued under this a1tiele shall be assig11ed 01 transfe11ed by the 

pe1son to whom it is issued except t1pon app1oval of the boa1d ofst1ch assignment 01 

transfet . Such app1 oval shall be gr anted in the same ma1me1 and subject to the same 

application I cqni1 ements and proecdm es as 01 iginal applications fo1 ee1 tificatcs. Any 

majo1 ity t1 ansfe1 of sha1 cs of stock 01 intCJ est ofany pc1 son 01 opc1 ato1 so as to cause 

a change i11 the di1 ccto1 s, officc1 s, majo1 ity stockholdc1 s 01 n 1anagc1 s of st1eh pc1 son 

01 opc1 at01 shall be deemed a tJ ansfe1 01 assig111ncnt as contemplated by this a1 tide 

24 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

DRAFT DOCUMENT: F:\1 COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFJCE\M AT\HCFR\23-691-11\ORDINANCE -
COPCN.wpd, June 12, 2025 (10:32am) OTE: additions/deletion~= language proposed for addition/deletion 
to ex isting Code provisions. 

and st1bjcct to tlic same rnles and 1cgt1latio11s as any otl1c1 t1ansfe1 01 assig111ncnt. 

Fm thct, and in addition to this definition of an c v cnt constittJting a t1 a11sfc1, any 

action as stated t1ndc1 chaptct 40 I , Flmida Statotcs, which defines an assignment 

andfor t1ansfc1 shall be deemed by the boatd to, in fact, be st1ch a ttansfe1 of 

assignment. 

See. 21 171. Grounds for re¥oeation, alteration or suspension. 

(a) Evcty ccttificatc issocd m1dc1 this a1ticle shall be sobjcct to 

tcvocation, altc1ation 01 st1spcnsi011 by the boatd where it shall appear that. 

(1) The opc1ato1 has failed 01 neglected to tender all set vices 

aothmizcd by hisfhcr cc1tificatc f-o1 a period of tlncc (3) conscct1tivc days 

dm ing any calcndai ycat w ithoot I casonable caosc, 

(2) The opct ator has been con v ictcd of a felony 01 any ct iminal 

offense ir1volving mo1al m1pimdc, 

(3) The ccttificatc was obtained by an application in which any 

matc1ial fact was omitted 01 falsely stated, 

(4) The opcratm has pc1 mittcd any v chicle to be opc1 atcd in 

violation of the laws of Flot ida 01 this at tide, which violation ICsolts in a 

conviction of the d1ivc1 01 opcrato1 of the vehicle of a misdcmcano1 in the 

second dcg1 cc 01 g1 catct , 
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---(.....,5.+)---+T--+-h""e...,.,c pet atm has pet 111 itted at 1y pet son 01 employee to pt o v ide 

set vice tmdet his .;:,e1tificate without that petson possessing the app10p1iate 

license, ce1tific,ate 01 pennit as 1equi1ed by this aiticle and chapte1 401 , 

Flot ida Statc,tes;-

(6) The opetatm has failed to comply with any of the ptov isions 

of-tlm 11 tide, chapte1 40 I , Flot ida Statutes, 01 chaptet 64J- l of the Flot ida 

Mr.·1inist1 ati ve Code and as amended fto m time to time, 

(7) The ope1ato1, his agents 01 employees have been fo ond goilty 

of 111alp1 actice 01 negligence in the opetation of the set vice, 

(8) The ope1ato1 knowingly allows his agerrts 01 employees to 

violate the pm visions of this a1ticle, chaptet 401, Flm ida Statutes 01 chapte1 

64J-l of the Flot ida Adtninist1ative Code as amended ftom ti me to time 

and/01 any othet appl icable state 01 fedetal law(s) . 

(9) 81 othe1 good cause, 01 as ptovided fot othetwise in this 

a1ticle. 

(b) Ptoceedings fot investigation and 1eco111mending of 1evocation, 

alte1ation 01 sospensio11 of a ce1tificate, and any heating to be held based opon this 

investigation, shall be onde1take11 by the boa1d of coonty cornmissione1s. All 

complaints shall be investigated within fo1ty-fi ve (45) days and a 1epott the1 eon made 
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to the boa1d, togethe1 with findings a11d 1ecomrnendations. lf 1evocation, alte1atio11 

01 suspension of any cc1tificate appea,s wanantcd, the boa1d shall give fifteen (15) 

days' notice to the ope1ato1 holding the ce1tificate that the same will be conside1ed 

at a specific boat d meeting, p1 o v ided the date of such meeting shall not be less than 

five (5) days f10111 the date of the notice. The boa, d shall the1 eupon unde1 take to 

eonside1 the complaint and eithe, ,evoke, altci 01 suspend the ee1tifieate 01 dismiss 

the complain t. 

8ee. 21 172. Deily reeonl. 

Eveiy opeiat01 shall maintain a daily 1eeor d which shall be 1ee01 dedthe place 

01 01igin, time of call , time of dispatch, time of anival at serne, tillle left fo1 

destination, time of anival at destination, and cha1ges fo1 each hip made and such 

opeiating and patient info,mation as may be 1equi1ed by the boa1d. Eve1y ope1ato1 

shall 1etain and p1 ese1 ve all daily logs fo1 at least five (5) yea, sand such logs shall 

be available fo1 inspection by the boa1d upon 1equest. Falsification of a 1ec01d shall 

be grnunds fo, 1evocation, alteiation 01 suspension of a ee1tifieate. 

8ee. 21 173. 8uiteble vehiele. 

Eaelt vehicle shall be suitable fo1 t1a:nsp01tatio11 ofpe1 sons 1equesting se1 vice, 

shall meet the app1op1iate safety , sanitation a11d mainte11anee standa1ds and shall be 

maintai11ed in suitable p1en1ises . Eve1y vehicle shall possess an app1op1iate 
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cm1rmu11ications system, linking the vehicle with the ope1a:t01 1s centtal place of 

business. Each v chicle shall conform in a:11 1 espects to the most r eeent applicable 

design e1ite1ia a:s requited by chapter 401, F101ida Statutes a11d chapter 64J-l of the 

Florida Administrative Code. 

8ee. 21 174. Reeords. 

Each opeiator shall keep a:ccm ate records of I eceipts fot set vice I ende1 ed, 

opeiating and other expenses, capital expenditm es a1Jd such other operating and 

patient info11na:tion as inay be 1equi1ed by the board 01 undet the provisions of 

chapter 401, Fl01ida Statutes and chapter 64J-l of the Florida Ad111inist1ative Code. 

8ee. 21 175. Administration and enforeement of ordinanee. 

The r espollsibility of the admi11istr a:tion and enforcement of the pt o vis ions of 

this a1ticle is vested i11 the county administrator. Failure to comply by the operato1 

will 1esult in a 1eport to the board for fmther action. 

8ee. 21 176. Violations and penalties. 

Any pe1son, fit1n or co1poratio11 failing to comply with any provision of this 

at tick shall be prosecuted as deser ibed i11 cha:pte1 2, ar tide HJ as amended ft om ti111e 

to time. 

Secs. 21-f-19-163 - 21-186. Reserved. 
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Section 3. Severability. It is declared to be the intent of the Board of County 

2 Commissioners that if any section, subsection, clause, sentence, phrase, or provision of this 

3 ordinance is for any reason held unconstitutional or invalid, the invalidity thereof shall not affect the 

4 validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance. 

5 Section 4. Inclusion in the Code. It is the intention of the Board of County Commissioners 

6 of Hernando County, Florida, and it is hereby provided, that the provisions of this Ordinance shall 

7 become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances of Hernando County, Florida. To this end, the 

8 sections of this Ordinance may be renumbered or relettered to accomplish such intention, and that 

9 the word "ordinance" may be changed to "section," "article," or any other appropriate designation. 

l O Section 5. Conflicting Provisions Repealed. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in 

11 conflict with the provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

12 Section 6. Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon receipt of 

13 official acknowledgment from the office of the Secretary of State of Florida that this ordinance has 

14 been filed with said office. 
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BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 

HERNANDO COUNTY in Regular Session this \~ day of A1~St 2025 . 

AttesJ\ ,,,.J.;PJ\~~~ 
&cX.., ~ UGLAS CHORV AT,JR. 

Clerk and Comptroller 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA 
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